## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**SARAH ATTABERRY** 

**APPELLANT** 

V.

2008-CP-00878-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JUL 2 8 2008

Office of the Clerk
Supreme Court
Court of Appeals

APPELLEE

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

SARAH ATTABERRY MDOC # 128447 CMCF-1A-D-106 PO BOX 88550 PEARL, MS 39288

Filing Pro Se

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**SARAH ATTABERRY** 

**APPELLANT** 

V.

2008-CP-00878-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

<u>ISSUE NO. I:</u> WHETHER THE COURT APPOINTED ATTORNEY'S REPRESENTATION OF APPELLANT FELL BELOW A REASONABLE STANDARD?

ISSUE NO. II: WHETHER THE DEFENDANT WAS PROPERLY INDICTED FOR BURGLARY?

ISSUE NO. III: WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY SENTENCING APPELLANT AND DID NOT RECUSE HIMSELF AS COURT HAD BEEN BURGARLIZED TWICE AND PRESENTLY MAINTAINS A LONG STANDING SOCIAL RELATIONSHIP WITH VICTIMS GENE AND LIBBY MULLOY?

ISSUE NO. IV: WHETHER COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING THE VERDICT OF GUILTY AND THUS VIOLATED THE APPELANT'S DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN THE APPELLANT DISCOVERED UPON ENTERING THE CORRECTIONAL SYSTEM THAT A CONSEQUENCE OF HER GUILTY PLEA WAS INELIGIBLITY FOR PAROLE?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District of Jones County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crimes of Burglary and Grand Larceny against Sarah Attaberry; the resulting sentencing of 15 years with 5 years suspended and 10 years to serve in the Mississippi Department of Corrections was imposed following a plea bargain accepted on April 4, 2007 by the Honorable Billy Joe Landrum, presiding. Sarah Attaberry is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### **FACTS**

On or about January 13, 2006 Sarah Attaberry sat down in good faith with Alan Morgan in his office at Morgan Bros. in Laurel, Mississippi and admitted to Diane Havens that she had entered her house without permission. Ms. Havens had reported a break-in the day before and reported nothing missing. Ms. Havens had assumed that "Mexican gangs" were targeting her or "the niggers" were out to get her. To reassure Ms. Havens, Attaberry signed a notarized

agreement with Audubon Drive Bible Church to attend services, receive only biblical counseling, and test negative from all mood altering substances at work. Attaberry and Ms. Havens were both employees of Alan Morgan. Attaberry signed a notarized agreement which stated that she broke and entered into Ms. Havens' home and she was compelled to do so by the leadership of Audubon Drive Bible Church. The church elders, specifically Alan Morgan, made it clear that they would urge Ms. Havens to seek prosecution in the matter if Ms. Attaberry did not sign this agreement and there was an implied threat that if she did not adhere to this enter into this agreement that she would be fired by Mr. Morgan.

The cause of Ms. Attaberry's outlandish behavior was a long standing addiction to prescription narcotics. She asked Alan Morgan and the church she was attending for assistance in a detoxification program months before these incidents occurred and no treatment was endorsed or recommended by her church. Attaberry violated her agreement with Diane Havens by testing positive for narcotics in March, 2006.

Ms. Havens and Mr. Morgan both wrote statements against Ms. Attaberry in March, 2006. Attaberry met with a detective at the Laurel Police Department whereby she stated the facts, the same facts she had given to Alan Morgan in his office in front of Ms. Havens. The detective who took her statement indicated that considering all of the facts it was most likely that Ms. Attaberry would be given a misdemeanor charge of criminal mischief. It is of note that the person who drove Attaberry to the police station was Alan Morgan's wife. A confession was essentially extracted from the defendant and her signature was obtained by direct promises and by the exertion improper influence. Attaberry was awaiting indictment from the office of the District Attorney of Jones County for breaking and entering. She was later mistakenly indicted for Burglary.

By June, 2006 Sarah Attaberry received a call at 4 am from Kelly Lambert indicating that Ms. Attaberry had "items that belonged to her" which Ms. Attaberry returned the following morning at 9am. It was never addressed that Ms. Attaberry and Ms. Lambert had taken prescription drugs together which precipitated this event. On the day she was arrested, Detective Byron Craft entered her apartment and began to go through her closet and chest of drawers. He was not invited into her apartment and was repeatedly asked to step outside. Ms. Attaberry was charged with Grand Larceny and remained in custody in the Jones County Jail until August, 2006.

The day after she was arrested the police thoroughly searched Ms. Attaberry's residence at 2606 Old Bay Springs Rd after her landlord Libby Mulloy searched her apartment under the auspices of a "maintenance check" and discovered that Ms. Attaberry had used items stored in the front storage unit of Ms. Mulloys' property without permission. Detective Byron Craft had alerted Mrs. Mulloy after he illegally searched her apartment. A maintenance check had not been previously conducted in Ms. Attaberry's residence nor were there any known appliance problems. Mrs. Mulloy found items in Ms. Attaberry's possession which were borrowed from the front of the storage unit in the same building as Ms. Attaberry's residence. It is not known whether or not Ms. Attaberry was indicted for Burglary in this matter.

As defendant was out on bond and gainfully employed, she met with her court appointed attorney on March 22<sup>nd</sup> 2007, whereby she was informed of the District Attorney's plea offer of 15 years with 10 years to serve. Defendant was not informed that ADA Dennis Biznett had agreed that morning to recommend to the Circuit Court a sentence of 10 yrs with 9 years suspended and one year of house arrest. Not aware of this offer, Defendant Attaberry ingested 24 1mg Xanax tablets issued by legal prescription and defendant maintains a limited recollection

of the events followed on March 23<sup>rd</sup> 2007. Defendant Attaberry was arrested for illegally obtaining a prescription by fraud. Attaberry was then taken to jail and later that evening she was transported to the South Central Regional Medical Center for a staff infection where she was treated with narcotics. Attaberry, upon return to the jail, was separated from the general population in an isolation cell as per Captain Judy Webb and not allowed access to a telephone. Captain Webb has presently been relieved of her duties in Jones County jail. Defendant Attaberry was met by court appointed counsel on March 28, 2007 At this time Mitchell informed her that she had "thirty minutes" to sign said plea or ADA Biznett would "indict her as a habitual felon" and she would "go to prison for life" and informed her when she hesitated that "the clock is ticking on this."

When Attaberry asked to consult her husband about this plea or her employer counsel informed her just to "sign it." When she mentioned a desire to seek chemical dependency evaluation her counsel's reply was "you'll be in Jones County Jail for years waiting for an evaluation." Thus, under coercion from her own attorney and the district attorney's office, and told that her charges for prescription forgery would be dismissed, defendant signed a plea agreement which was not notarized nor witnessed in front of her.

Mitchell stated he had "a stamp in the car."

Defendant filed in forma pauperis a Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief on the 14<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2008 seeking relief from her conviction in this matter and a review of her attorney's misrepresentation and subsequent violation of due process by involuntarily signing a plea bargain. On April 16, 2008 an Order Denying Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief alleging her argument was without merit to "establish an ineffective assistance of counsel claim" and dismissed her claim of involuntarily signing a plea bargain but did not address her claim that

by involuntarily signing a plea bargain she agreed to sign based on the presumption that she would be eligible for parole at some point in time that this violated her due process of law.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The defendant was denied due process of law by involuntarily signing a document which admitted her guilt to the Court. The Court accepted her plea, allegedly given knowingly and intelligently, but did not inform her that as a consequence of her guilty plea that she would be ineligible for parole. The Court, in denying defendant's Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief, did not impute acquiescence or understanding by the defendant of the consequences of her plea and this consequence should have been established by her counsel of record in the matter or by the Court itself. The Court record did not establish a factual basis for believing that defendant understood that an acceptance of a guilty plea would make her ineligible for parole. Had the defendant been informed of this fact, she would never have agreed to enter a guilty plea.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# <u>ISSUE NO. I:</u> WHETHER THE COURT APPOINTED ATTORNEY'S REPRESENTATION FELL BELOW A REASONABLE STANDARD?

Mitchell's representation fell well below an objective standard of reasonableness. He mentioned that her prior criminal history would be an "issue at trial" and failed to inform her that this history was not a factor in a plea proceeding. He continued to intimidate her by reminding her that the circuit Judge Billy Joe Landrum had been "burglarized twice before" but did absolutely nothing to motion Judge Landrum to recuse himself based on bias and an established social history with the victims Gene and Libby Mulloy nor did Mitchell motion for a change of venue. Mitchell did absolutely nothing but prove his loyalty did not lay with the defense of his client. Blanco v. Singletary, 943 F. 2d 1477 (11th Cir. 1991)

There is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's indolent if not indifferent representation, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The same week of Attaberry's sentencing a defendant, who had paid Mitchell, signed a plea bargain for Burglary and Landrum sentenced him to the RID program in lieu of prison. This defendant faced the same charges as Ms. Attaberry and had a long criminal history in the State of Mississippi. defendant also had the sheriff of Jones Country, Larry Dykes, in court speaking on his behalf, presumably because he had been a trustee working in the Jones County jail. Counsel abandoned any plausible defense strategy in Attaberry's cases because this obviously represented a conflict of interest for another client Mitchell represented, a client who paid him, Caik v. U.S., 59 F. 3d 296 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1995) "Counsel presented no adversarial challenge because counsel was not financially motivated to do so nor was he willing to investigate the motivations for the witnesses signed statements against the defendant." Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 39 L Ed. 2d 347, 94 S. Ct. 1105 (1974) Mitchell did not examine discovery in Ms. Attaberry's defense and had a vague recollection of the witnesses against her. Michael Mitchell did not as court appointed counsel for defendant Sarah Attaberry exhibited a representation so deficient that it fell below even the minimal standard for professionally competent assistance established by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 647 (1984) which is the proving ground for all such said claims. Tejeda v. Dubois, 142 F. 3d 18 (1st Cir. 1998) The relationship of the accused to counsel provides "a critical factual context" here. "The one person in the world upon whose judgment and advice, skill and experience, loyalty and integrity that defendant must be able to rely upon, is his lawyer." Myers v. State, 583 So.2<sup>nd</sup> 174, 178 (Miss, 1991)

Michael Mitchell did nothing to manage defendant's cases outside of pushing them through the circuit court, coercing his client to sign a guilty plea, and intimidating her by his

reassure Ms. Havens that she had not been the target of minority groups such as the "Mexican gangs" or the "niggers." Ms. Havens stated these minority groups had most likely broken and entered her home. There were no witnesses placing Ms. Attaberry at the scene or leaving the scene. Medina v. Barnes, 71 F. 3d 363 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir 1995)

Ms. Havens also allowed the police investigating the crime to believe that Ms. Attaberry had strewn clothing and assorted items all over her home when, in fact, Ms. Havens normally keeps her household in this condition. Essentially, Ms. Havens was not forthcoming with investigators. These facts were never challenged.

In the charge of Grand Larceny counsel utterly refused to investigate the nature of the relationship between the victim and the defendant or to offer any investigation into the nature of the assertion that Kelly Lambert had made, on several occasions, sexual advances toward the defendant and was rebuffed. Thus, it would have been prudent after Ms. Attaberry had returned the items in question, to investigate this relationship further.

Defendant was acting in good faith in both of these cases, admitting as well as contrite, even in the face of no legal evidence of wrongdoing. When there is truthful admission, a voluntary return of all property, and a prompt and voluntary surrender coupled with the timeliness of the acceptance of responsibility, a decrease in sentencing should be considered.

No independent investigation of the circumstances of these cases was carried out by trial counsel. It is also apparent that trial counsel relied solely on whatever witnesses and evidence the State was bringing to trial. "Our supreme court has established that such a failure to conduct a proper investigation results in ineffective assistance of counsel." <u>Triplet v. State</u>, 666 So. 2d. 1356, 1361-62 (Miss. 1995); <u>Moody v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 451 (Miss. 1994); <u>Barnes v. State</u>, 577

So. 2d 840, 843-44 (Miss. 1991); State v. Tokman, 564 So. 2d 1339, 1342-43 (Miss. 1990); Yarbourgh v. State, 529 So. 2d 659, 662 (Miss. 1988); Ferguson, 507 So. 2d at 95-97.

Defendant Sarah Attaberry checked in with Mitchell's office weekly while out bond between August, 2006 and March, 2007. In their one formal office meeting he stated that he had not "reviewed the discovery materials in this case."

Defendant was undoubtedly under the influence of mind and mood altering substances during the commission of her crimes, at the time of her arrest, and in circuit court. While this is not an excuse by law it is certainly a mitigating factor and Mitchell refused to investigate, develop, or even explore long term treatment, outpatient treatment, the RID program, or a psychiatric evaluation by the court. The failure to admit psychiatric history or to propose the need of prolonged or properly managed drug treatment constituted a deficient performance on counsel's behalf and falls outside the range of professional standards maintain by the bar. The Court had no information pertaining to defendant's history in this respect and the voluntary nature of the plea is questionable. Tiller v. Esposito, 911 F.2<sup>nd</sup> 575 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990)

It is "not enough to assume that counsel thought there was no defense, and exercised his best judgment..." <u>Powell v. Anderson</u>, 287 U.S. 45, 58, 53 S. Ct. 55, 60, 77 L. Ed. 159 (1932) "It must be a rare circumstance indeed where a decision not to investigate would be 'reasonable' after counsel has notice of the client's history of mental (drug/alcohol) problems."

# <u>ISSUE NO. III:</u> WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD HAVE RECUSED HIMSELF OR ATTORNEY OF RECORD MOTIONED FOR CHANGE OF VENUE?

As the defendant entered the court room, Libby and Gene Mulloy motioned to Court and acknowledged Judge Landrum. The judge and the victims in this case had a long standing social and political relationship with the Court. The court appointed counsel did not Motion the Court for a change of venue nor did the attorney of record ask the Court to recuse himself in the matter.

Mitchell repeatedly told Ms. Attaberry that she should "say nothing" that the Judge was "unpredictable" and even "crazy." When she mentioned that she would not be adverse to entering the RID program or even taking an open plea so that the Court could be informed of her mitigating circumstances Mitchell rebuffed her and told her this would "not do much good, the Judge has been burglarized twice; he will hang you out to dry." The result of the proceeding may have been different had the court been made aware of the defendant's state of mind and the integrity of that proceeding could be looked upon as having been shaken by counsel's complete lack of loyalty, advice, judgment, and skill. Leatherwood v. State 539 So.2<sup>nd</sup> 1378, 1385 (Miss. 1989)

Nor was it an unreasonable idea for counsel to request a change of venue, or simply to Motion the Court to recuse in this matter as he had a history of particularly lengthy sentencing when the crime of Burglary was prosecuted.

Out of improper advice by counsel defendant was told to "go in there and say yes to everything the judge asks; do not address him at all," to "keep your mouth shut or it will be worse for you" thus discrediting any attempt at defense and was 'content, perhaps even eager, to leave the sentence in the hands of the DA' and to consequently follow any plea recommendations the District Attorney's office offered. Lane v. Richards, 957 F.2<sup>nd</sup> 363 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992)

The defendants accepting plea bargains were lined up in a row of eleven defendants, each asked the same series of questions to ascertain whether or not each was making their plea intelligently and knowledgably. Libby Mulloy made a statement during Ms. Attaberry's sentencing which indicated that she wished the defendant had "less time to serve" but this was

actually not present in the record and there is no indication that this statement was stricken from the record by an objection from the State. It simply was not there.

Although the court transcript indicated that the defendant answered specific questions in the affirmative there was no clear indication that defendant deemed her plea "fair and appropriate" nor was there any concern for the fact that her victims in the Burglary II charge addressed the court on her behalf expressing forgiveness and a wish that her "sentence be lighter." U.S. v. Cross, 57 F. 3d 588 (7th Cir. 1995)

This statement was stricken from the court record but affidavits can be obtained which indicate that this statement was made.

ISSUE NO. IV: WHETHER COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING THE VERDICT OF GUILTY AND THUS VIOLATED THE APPELANT'S DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN THE APPELLANT DISCOVERED UPON ENTERING THE CORRECTIONAL SYSTEM THAT A CONSEQUENCE OF HER GUILTY PLEA WAS INELIGIBLITY FOR PAROLE?

Prior to trial or before accepting a plea an "accused is entitled to rely upon her counsel to make an independent examination of the facts, circumstances, pleadings, and laws involved" and then to rely upon her counsel's informed opinion as to what plea, if any, should be entered. Von Molke v. Gillies, 332 U.S. 708, 68 S. Ct. 316, 92 L. Ed. 309 (1947) Defendant Attaberry was defrauded of adequate representation or a thorough examination of the facts in the case. The Due Process clause of the 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment requires that a plea of guilty be made knowingly and willingly by the defendant after having been properly informed of all ramifications upon the signature of said plea bargain. In the charge of Burglary I and II, defendant Attaberry was never informed by court appointed counsel of the complete ineligibility for parole. Defendant would simply not have signed the plea offered if she had been aware that no parole would be afforded. Hill v. Lockhart, 894 F.2d 1009 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990) Defendant was neither advised by court or

counsel of her ineligibility for parole and her motion raising this issue in district court was summarily dismissed. In Otero-Rivera v. US, 494 F.2d900; (1st Cir. 1974) the appeal court granted appellant an evidentiary hearing on the matter.

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