(C(O)PY

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**SARAH ATTABERRY** 

**FILED** 

**APPELLANT** 

AUG 2 7 2008

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2008-CP-0878-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ms. Attaberry's actual guilt of the crimes charged is reflected throughout her motion for post-conviction relief as well as her appellate brief. (C.P. at 3-6; Brief of Appellant at 1-4) She claims "[t]he cause of [her] outlandish behavior was a long standing addiction to prescription narcotics." (Brief of Appellant at 2)

In her motion for post-conviction relief Attaberry says she "... was undoubtedly under the

influence of mind and mood altering substances in the commission of her crimes [and] at the time of her arrest . . ." (C.P. at 7)

If true, we sympathize and empathize but do not excuse.

Attaberry's claims that her lawyer was ineffective and her plea involuntary were correctly dismissed summarily as being plainly without merit.

"The rule regarding ineffective assistance of counsel in the context of a guilty plea is that when a convicted defendant challenges his guilty plea on ground of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show unprofessional errors of substantial gravity." **Davis v. State,** No. 2007-CP-00264-COA (¶7) [Not Yet Reported], citing **Buck v. State,** 838 So.2d 256, 260 (¶12) (Miss. 2003).

Attaberry has failed to do so here.

A plea of guilty is binding only if it is entered voluntarily and intelligently. Myers v. State, 583 So.2d 174, 177 (Miss. 1991). A plea of guilty is voluntary and intelligent when the defendant is informed of the charges against her and the consequences of her guilty plea. Alexander v. State, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992).

She was.

There are material contradictions between what Ms. Attaberry swore to then and there and what Attaberry claims here and now, *viz.*, satisfaction with her lawyer's advice and representation, not under the influence of drugs or alcohol at the time of her plea, no promises or threats made, and entry of intelligent and voluntary pleas, *as opposed to* dissatisfaction with her lawyer, coerced and involuntary pleas, and under the influence of mind altering drugs while in court. (C.P. at 7,28, 30).

When a defendant's claims on a motion to withdraw guilty plea are in contradiction with the guilty plea record, the trial judge, as Judge Landrum obviously did here, is entitled to rely heavily on the record of the proceedings. **Bilbo v. State**, 881 So.2d 966 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004); **Richardson v.** 

State, 769 So.2d 230 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000). *Cf.* Taylor v. State, 682 So.2d 359, 364 (Miss. 1996); Sherrod v. State, 784 So.2d 256 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001).

Ms. Attaberry's pleas were neither uninformed nor coerced; rather, they were both knowing and voluntary. The case of **Robinson v. State**, 964 So.2d 609 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), is applicable here in several respects.

Counsel's advice did not rise to the level of coercion. "Counsel has 'a duty to fairly, even if that means pessimistically, inform the client of the likely outcome of a trial based upon the facts of the case.' "Robinson v. State, supra, 964 So.2d 609, 612 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007). See also Daughtery v. State, 847 So.2d 284 (Ct.App.Miss. 2003).

"Early release and parole are matters of legislative grace and are not consequences of a guilty plea." **Robinson v. State**, *supra*, 964 So.2d 609, 613 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007).

Attaberry's claim on appeal targeting a defective burglary indictment is procedurally barred because it was not presented in her motion for post-conviction relief. **Wallace v. State,** No. 2007-CP-00766-COA (¶27) decided May 27, 2008 [Not Yet Reported].

In any event, the burglary indictment would not have been a nullity even if Attaberry took nothing from the dwelling house she admittedly broke in to and entered. It is the intent to steal versus an actual taking that constitutes the crime.

Moreover, Ms. Attaberry waived any non-jurisdictional defects in her indictment when she entered voluntary guilty pleas.

Also waived was Attaberry's right to have the prosecution prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, including her right to present any defense(s) she might have had to the charges. **Bishop v. State**, 812 So.2d 934, 945 (Miss. 2002); **Anderson v. State**, 577 So.2d 390, 391

(Miss. 1991); Jefferson v. State, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989); Taylor v. State, 766 So.2d 830, 835 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000).

Attaberry's claim on appeal that Judge Landrum erred by not recusing himself is also procedurally barred because it was not raised in her motion for post-conviction relief. Recusal was only mentioned within the context of effective assistance of counsel. (C.P. at 7)

Attaberry was not denied the effective assistance of counsel during her guilty pleas because counsel's performance, contrary to Attaberry's position, was neither deficient nor did any deficiency prejudice Attaberry, who admitted her crimes to her victims as well as to others.

In ruling on this issue Judge Landrum applied the correct legal standard. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Williams v. State, 819 So.2d 532 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); Reynolds v. State, 736 So.2d 500 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

Attaberry has failed to demonstrate that but for counsel's alleged sins of omission or commission, she would not have entered her pleas of guilty or else the jury would have found her innocent had she gone to trial, i.e., the result would have been different.

In short, Ms. Attaberry has failed to establish by a "preponderance of the evidence" she was entitled to any relief. Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-23(7); McClendon v. State, 539 So.2d 1375 (Miss. 1989); Todd v. State, 873 So.2d 1040 (Ct.App. Miss. 2004).

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE RECORD, CONSTRUED IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO ATTABERRY, REFLECTS ATTABERRY ENTERED VOLUNTARY PLEAS OF GUILTY TO THE CRIMES CHARGED.

ATTABERRY'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL IS MATERIALLY CONTRADICTED BY THE GUILTY PLEA RECORD. ATTABERRY HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT AND THAT THE DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE PREJUDICED HER DEFENSE.

BY PLEADING GUILTY ATTABERRY WAIVED ANY NON-JURISDICTIONAL DEFECTS IN THE BURGLARY INDICTMENT.

ATTABERRY'S VOLUNTARY PLEAS OF GUILTY OPERATED TO WAIVE AND/OR FORFEIT HER RIGHT TO ASSAIL IN A POST-CONVICTION ENVIRONMENT ALL NON-JURISDICTIONAL RIGHTS OR DEFECTS INCIDENT TO TRIAL, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO HAVE THE STATE PROVE EACH ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, AND THE RIGHT TO PRESENT ANY DEFENSES TO THE CHARGE.

THE FACT-FINDING MADE BY THE CIRCUIT JUDGE FOLLOWING HIS REVIEW OF ATTABERRY'S PETITION AND THE RECORD OF HER PLEAS WAS NEITHER CLEARLY ERRONEOUS NOR MANIFESTLY WRONG.

#### I. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

Ms. Attaberry admits in her papers she met with her court-appointed lawyer on numerous occasions. (C.P. at 7; Brief of Appellant at 3-4, 7) Nevertheless, Attaberry says her lawyer's representation fell below a reasonable standard for various and sundry reasons, none of which

demonstrate a deficiency in counsel's performance or prejudice to the defendant. (Brief of Appellant at 5)

Attaberry claims her lawyer, Michael Mitchell, coerced her into signing a petition to enter plea of guilty by intimidating her with reminders that she had "ticked" off some powerful people and that Judge Landrum had been twice burglarized and had a social history with one of the victims. (Brief of Appellant at 5-6)

She complains, *inter alia*, that Mr. Mitchell failed to request recusal or move for a change of venue, abandoned any plausible defense strategy, failed to examine discovery, and forced her to agree to the plea under "hostile duress."

Finally, Attaberry laments she never had an opportunity to change her mind. (Brief of Appellant at 7)

To the contrary, Ms. Attaberry was given several opportunities by the Court to go to trial if she did not want to enter her pleas. Attaberry apparently signed a plea agreement on Wednesday, March 28, 2007. (Brief of Appellant at 7) The plea-qualification hearing was not held until Friday, March 30, 2007, during which Attaberry thrice told Judge Landrum, in the wake of his inquiries, she still wanted to go forward and plead guilty. (C.P. at 27, 29, 30) Ms. Attaberry certainly could have informed Judge Landrum she had, once again, changed her mind.

Judge Landrum found as a fact this ineffectiveness claim was refuted by Ms. Attaberry's own sworn testimony where Attaberry acknowledged she was satisfied with her lawyer's "representation and advice," (C.P. at 28) Judge Landrum gave great weight to Attaberry's acknowledgments she was satisfied with her lawyer's advice and representation. *See Davis v. State, supra*, No. 2007-CP-00264 (¶8) decided June 17, 2008, where Davis acknowledged he was satisfied with the performance of his lawyer.

Judge Landrum applied the correct legal standard and found as a fact there is no indication Attaberry's counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness nor is there evidence that, but for counsel's errors, Attaberry would not have pled guilty. (C.P. at 19-21; appellee's exhibit A, attached.)

Moreover, the benefits from a negotiated plea was the willingness of the State to eschew prosecution of Ms. Attaberry for prescription forgery and the imposition of concurrent sentences as opposed to consecutive terms.

Attaberry has failed to overcome the presumption her lawyer rendered reasonably effective assistance during her guilty plea.

There are no affidavits, other than her own, attached to Attaberry's motion for post-conviction relief. It has been said time and again that "[i]f a prisoner's motion for post-conviction relief does not contain any affidavits other than the prisoner's own to support the prisoner's allegation, then the motion may be dismissed." **Brown v. State,** 963 So.2d 577, 579 (¶5) (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) quoting from **Edwards v. State,** 796 So.2d 1040 (¶5) (Ct.App.Miss. 2001).

Ms. Attaberry was not denied the effective assistance of counsel during her guilty pleas because counsel's performance, contrary to Attaberry's position, was neither deficient nor did any deficiency actually prejudice Attaberry. **Strickland v. Washington**, *supra*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); **Williams v. State**, 819 So.2d 532 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); **Reynolds v. State**, 736 So.2d 500 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999). Indeed, Ms. Attaberry, as stated previously, has admitted her guilt of the crimes charged throughout her motion for post-conviction relief as well as her brief on appeal.

"When a convicted defendant challenges his guilty plea on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show unprofessional errors of substantial gravity. Beyond that, he must show that

those errors proximately resulted in his guilty plea and that but for counsel's errors he would not have entered the plea." Reynolds v. State, 521 So.2d 914, 918 (Miss. 1988).

The ground rules applicable here are found in **Brooks v. State**, 573 So.2d 1350, 1353 (Miss. 1990), where this Court said:

It is clear the two part test articulated in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) "applies to challenges to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel." *Leatherwood v. State*, 539 So.2d 1378, 1381 (Miss. 1989) quoting from *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 58, 106 S.Ct. 366, 370, 88 L.Ed.2d 203, 210 (1985).

In order to prevail on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Brooks must show, first of all, "that his counsel's performance was deficient and second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense so as to deprive him of a fair trial." *Perkins v. State, supra,* 487 So.2d at 793. The burden is upon the defendant to make "a showing of both." *Wilcher v. State,* 479 So.2d 710, 713 (Miss. 1985) (emphasis supplied). To obtain an evidentiary hearing in the lower court on the merits of an effective assistance of counsel issue, a defendant must state "a claim *prima facie*" in his application to the Court. *Read v. State,* 430 So.2d 832, 841 (Miss. 1983).

To get a hearing "...he must allege... with specificity and detail" that his counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *Perkins v. State, supra*, 487 So.2d at 793; *Knox v. State*, 502 So.2d 672, 676 (Miss. 1987).

See also Drennan v. State, 695 So.2d 581 (Miss. 1997), where we find the following language:

\* \* \* When reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, this Court utilizes the standard set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In Schmitt v. State, 560 So.2d 148, 154 (Miss. 1990), this Court held "[b]efore counsel can be deemed to have been ineffective, it must be shown (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the defendant was prejudiced by counsel's mistakes." (Citations omitted). One who claims that counsel was ineffective must overcome the presumption that "counsel's performance falls within the range of reasonable professional assistance." Id. (Quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068). In order to overcome this presumption, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's

unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* (695 So.2d at 586)

Counsel's performance was hardly deficient and unprofessional. Attaberry has failed to demonstrate by affidavit or otherwise how counsel's alleged errors would have altered the outcome of her decision to plead guilty.

"Trial counsel is presumed to be competent." **Brooks v. State**, *supra*, 573 So.2d 1350, 1353 (Miss. 1990). Attaberry, of course, must overcome that presumption. Moreover, the burden is on the defendant to demonstrate *both* prongs of the **Strickland** test. **McQuarter v. State**, 574 So.2d 685 (Miss. 1990).

"Along with the presumption that counsel's conduct is within the wide range of reasonable conduct, there is a presumption that decisions made are strategic." Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 969 (Miss. 1985). Courts are reluctant to infer from counsel's silence an absence of trial strategy.

Id. Courts accord much discretion to attorneys in the areas of defense strategy. Armstrong v. State, 573 So.2d 1329 (Miss. 1990). Obviously, the strategy involved in. Attaberry's pleas of guilty was to negate the possibility of consecutive sentences.

Attaberry complains that counsel failed to prepare a reasonable defense yet fails to suggest to us what defenses were available. She says counsel failed to review discovery but fails to tell us what was left undiscovered.

In short, Ms. Attaberry has failed to demonstrate that trial counsel's overall performance was deficient. Moreover, none of the alleged acts of commission or omission by counsel, viewed either individually or collectively, amount to a deficient performance. The official record reflects Mr. Mitchell rendered sound legal advice and performed in a constitutionally acceptable manner.

# II. Improper or Defective Burglary Indictment.

Ms. Attaberry says she was improperly indicted for the burglary of Ms. Havens' dwelling house because Ms. Havens admitted that nothing was taken. Attaberry claims this would negate an indictment for burglary. (C.P. at 6; Brief of Appellant at 7)

Insofar as we can tell, this issue was not adequately raised and presented to the trial judge in Ms. Attaberry's motion for post-conviction relief. (C.P. at 3-12) Issues and claims raised for the first time in her *pro se* appellate brief, cannot be considered for the first time on appeal. Attaberry, therefore, is procedurally barred from raising them in the present appeal. **Foster v. State**, 716 So.2d 538, 540 (Miss. 1998), citing **Berdin v. State**, 648 So.2d 73, 80 (Miss. 1994) ["Because Foster did not raise this issue in his petition for post-conviction relief, its consideration is precluded on appeal."]; **Davis v. State**, *supra*, No. 2007-CP-00264-COA (¶4) decided June 17, 2008 [Not Yet Reported]; **Wallace v. State**, No.2007-CP-00766-COA (¶27) decided May 27, 2008 [Not Yet Reported].

In any event, the fact that nothing was taken from the home of Ms. Havens is immaterial. It is not necessary to prove that something was actually taken so long as the intent to take was successfully demonstrated.

Moreover, assuming her pleas were voluntary, Attaberry waived her right to challenge the indictment as well as the evidence.

In Jefferson v. State, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989), this Court opined:

We are concerned here with the legal effect of Jefferson's two 1981 guilty pleas. The institution of the guilty plea is well established in our criminal justice process. A guilty plea operates to waive the defendant's privilege against self-incrimination/2, the right to confront and cross-examine the prosecution's witnesses/3, the right to a jury trial/4 and the right that the prosecution prove each

## element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt./5

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